FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
10/1/2018 2:18 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/5/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

96390-8

No. 50090-6

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON

PUGET SOUND GROUP, LLC, et al.,

PETITIONERS,

V.

WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR & CANNABIS BOARD et al.,

RESPONDENTS.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY

THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Ryan R. Agnew, WSBA No. 43668 Attorney for Petitioners

THE LAW OFFICE OF RYAN R. AGNEW, P.S.
PO Box 601
Milton, WA 98354
(206) 372-0588

I. INTRODUCTION

This case is about arbitrary and capricious rulemaking and action by the Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board ("LCB"), taken in contravention of Washington's Administrative Procedure Act ¹ ("APA") and Washington's Cannabis Patient Protection Act ² ("CPPA").

The Court of Appeals declined to address most of case's merits, including a broader challenge to LCB's inability to comply with statutory instructions. The matter was dismissed as moot under the proposition that emergency rules, having expired during the pendency of litigation, are not subject to review. Through its opinion, the Court of Appeals gives imprimatur to actions that show a willful disregard for statutory requirements. In cases where interim rules are the only rules of consequence, harmful administrative actions will continue to evade review unless corrected by this Court.

The Court of Appeals addressed a subset of the challenge, deciding only that a license cap was not rulemaking³ because it did not alter the standard for the issuance of a license and that it was not arbitrary and

² Laws of 2015, Ch. 70.

¹ RCW 34.05 et seq.

³ The license cap was challenged as meeting the definition of a rule under RCW 34.05.010(16) and RCW 34.05.328(5)(c)(iii), RP. 14-16.

capricious for the LCB to rely on questionable data. Petitioners seek review of the Appellate decision and the trial court record.

II. PETITIONER'S IDENTITY

Petitioner Puget Sound Group LLC et al. are the Appellants at the Court of Appeals and the Plaintiffs at the trial court.

III. CITATION TO APPELLATE DECISION TO BE REVIEWED

Petitioner requests the Washington Supreme Court review the Washington State Court of Appeals Division Two opinion in *Puget Sound Group LLC et al. v. Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board*, No. 50090-6-II (July 10, 2018), herein the "Opinion." A copy of the Opinion is included in the **Appendix** pages 26 through 35. An order denying reconsideration was issued on August 31st, 2018. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is also included in the **Appendix** pages 36-37.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Substantial Public Interest in Affirming Judicial Authority to Render

Judgments Vacided Sameed Requedies rule Review chill Engedgendy wRettest
remedy is available in situations where the emergency rule later expires?

Short Answer: Remedy is not precluded because the rule was later adopted as a permanent rule. When cognizable harms are the result of an

emergency rule, the judiciary is not prevented from entering declaratory judgment and issuing other remedies as justice dictates.

Substantial Interest in Avoiding Future Administrative Misconduct.

- 1. If an issue is otherwise moot, does the public have an interest in preventing future misconduct by public officials? Short Answer: When a plaintiff brings an APA challenge to arbitrary and capricious rulemaking procedure, a substantial public interest lay in preventing a repeat of that manner of action and issuing guidance to public officials.
- 2. When an agency acts contrary to its own judgment, is the agency decision invalid? Short Answer: Yes. Administrative action is arbitrary and capricious if it is taken without regard to attendant facts and is unsupported by a process of reason.

Issues Unaddressed by the Court of Appeals are Reviewable and Represent Matters of Substantial Public Interest

1. Does a certified agency record that is absent proof of deliberation constitute arbitrary and capricious rulemaking? Short Answer: Yes. Despite the gravity of their charge to merge a \$400M+ annual medical cannabis market into a joint system, the record shows the LCB immediately adopted the rules presented for their consideration, without discussion.

2. Did the LCB follow its statutory mandate to create a merit-based application system? Short Answer: No. The legislature's specific command to create a system that accommodated the needs of Washington's patients and providers was not implemented.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 24, 2015, Governor Jay Inslee signed the CPPA into law. The law mandated;

The state liquor and cannabis board must reconsider and increase the maximum number of retail outlets it established ... and allow for a new license application period and a greater number of retail outlets to be permitted in order to accommodate the medical needs of qualifying patients and designated providers.⁴

The CPPA ordered consolidation of Washington's legal cannabis markets by transitioning patients and providers operating under MUCA / Former RCW 69.51A into the LCB's I-502 adult-use program. To transition dispensaries from the medical cannabis system into a program overseen by the LCB,⁵ the CPPA gives explicit instructions to develop a new license application process; instructing that:

The state liquor and cannabis board **must develop** a competitive, merit-based application process that includes, at a minimum, the

.

⁴ Laws of 2015, ch. 70, § 8(2)(d)

⁵ In association with the Department of Health and Department of Agriculture.

opportunity for an applicant to demonstrate experience and qualifications in the marijuana industry.⁶ (emphasis added)

The CPPA then directs:

The state liquor and cannabis board shall give preference **between competing applications** *in the licensing process* to applicants that have the following experience and qualifications, in the following order of priority.⁷ (emphasis and italics added)

The preference between competing applications in process was established under three legislatively prescribed priorities. The first priority given to those who; applied for a recreational retail license prior to July 1, 2014, owned, operated, or were employed by a collective garden⁸ before January 1, 2013, maintained applicable business licenses, and "had a history of paying all applicable state taxes and fees." The second priority for those that meet the criteria for priority one but did not previously apply for a retail license. ¹⁰ The third priority category was a catchall for "all other applicants who do not have the experience and qualifications above." ¹¹

LCB Rulemaking to Implement the CPPA.

⁸ A.k.a. "Dispensary"

⁶ Laws of 2015, ch. 70, § 6(1)(a) -Former RCW 69.50.331(1)(a)

 $^{^{7}}$ Id.

⁹ Laws of 2015, ch. 70, § 6(1)(a)(i)

¹⁰ Laws of 2015, ch. 70, § 6(1)(a)(ii)

¹¹ Laws of 2015, ch. 70, § 6(1)(a)(iii)

On September 23, 2015, the LCB issued emergency rules purporting to implement the CPPA. The rules lacked the merit-based process ordered by the Legislature. Instead, the following was adopted:

The WSLCB will use a priority system to determine the order that marijuana retailers are licensed. Within priority categories, applications will not be ranked and will be processed in order of submission.

AR at 9

On October 9, 2015, the LCB announced that a new retail application period would begin on October 12, 2015. ¹² CP 514, Ex A.

Retail applications were opened to all, without regard for applicants currently serving patients or the number of patients served.¹³ License Cap Adoption Outside Rulemaking

On November 19th, 2015, BOTEC Analysis released a report entitled, Estimating the Size of the Medical Cannabis Market in Washington State. 14 CP 279. On November 25th, 2015, the LCB informed BOTEC that the agency had serious concerns with the methodology and accuracy of the report. The LCB stated that the report could not be used for the purposes of increasing the total number of retail stores. CP 516, Ex B. In response, BOTEC released a second report on December 15th, 2015.

10

¹² Neither the October 9th notice, nor the rules adopted on September 23rd, specified a limit on the number of retail licenses that would be made available.

¹⁴ Mark A.R. Kleiman et al., Estimating the Size of the Medical Cannabis Market in Washington State. November 19, 2015

CP 520, Ex C. The final report was cited by the LCB as the basis for setting the number of new retail stores. ¹⁵ On December 16th, 2015, the LCB adopted a new statewide retail store cap with allotments for cities and counties.

Trial Court Proceedings.

Faced with the statutorily-imposed transition deadline, ¹⁶ Puget Sound Group LLC et al. brought suit (RCW 34.05.514) in Thurston County Superior Court on January 29th, 2016; seeking declaratory judgments (RCW 34.05.570(2)), injunctive relief, an order to compel agency action required by state law (RCW 34.05.570(4)(b)), and other relief as may be necessary and appropriate, plus damages and costs. Injunctive relief was denied, and the complaint was put on a civil calendar.

The license application window closed on March 31st, 2016. ¹⁷Permanent rules were filed May 18th, 2016, effective June 18th, 2016. ¹⁸

_

http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/law/wsr/2016/11/16-11-110.htm

¹⁵ CP 555, Ex D., BOARD TO INCREASE NUMBER OF RETAIL MARIJUANA STORES FOLLOWING ANALYSIS OF MARKETPLACE | WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR AND CANNABIS BOARD, https://lcb.wa.gov/pressreleases/lcb-to-increase-number-of-retail-mj-stores

¹⁶ Laws of 2015, ch. 70, § 6 (Repealing RCW 69.501A, effective July 1, 2016)

¹⁷ 500906 PSG et al. v. WSLCB Supplemental Brief, Pg. 12-13. Appendix A. WSLCB Listserv – "Board to Close Marijuana Retail License Application Window March 31."

¹⁸ 500906 Appellants Reply Brief, Pg. 13 Fn. 14. See also, Wash. State Reg. 16-11-110, CR-103P "Final 2015 Legislation Implementation Rules."

Briefs were filed, CP 267-325, 460-477, 326-459, 478-482 and the Petitioners' challenges in the amended complaint CP 117-150, were heard in an ALR hearing on November 18th, 2016. RP. at 6, 20, and 38. The remainder of the Petitioners' claims were dismissed. RP. at 48. The Final Order was entered February 10th, 2017. CP 483-485. The Court of Appeals, Division II dismissed the case on July 10th, 2018.

V. ARGUMENT

1. Standards of Review.

Mootness, like other questions of justiciability, is a question of law reviewed de novo. ¹⁹

The standard of review of decisions involving statutory interpretation are conducted de novo.²⁰

Validity of agency rules are reviewed in consideration of; constitutionality, *ultra vires*, compliance with statutory rulemaking procedures or are arbitrary and capricious.²¹ Matters involving agency action (or inaction), not reviewable under RCW 34.05.570(2) or (3) are reviewed in consideration of constitutionality, *ultra vires*, or whether the

_

Washington State Communication Access Project v. Regal Cinemas, Inc., 173 Wn.App. 174, 293 P.3d 413, (Div. 1 2013) (citing Hilltop Terrace Homeowner's Ass'n v. Island County, 126 Wash.2d 22, 29, 891 P.2d 29 (1995))

²⁰ Williams v. Tilaye, 174 Wn.2d 57, 61, 272 P.3d 235 (2012)

²¹ RCW 34.05.570(2)(c)

agency action was arbitrary and capricious.²²

2.a. The case is not moot because the emergency rules were the only rules of consequence.

An issue is moot if the matter is "purely academic." However, an issue is not moot if a court can provide any effective relief. Id. at $733.^{24}$

Puget Sound Group LLC et al. were harmed as a result of the LCB's implementation of the CPPA. The case represents a justiciable controversy. Petitioners were denied the opportunity to obtain licenses during the effective period of the emergency rules.²⁵ The harms had already been suffered and the license application window was closed prior to adoption of the permanent rules.²⁶ LCB errors were set and fates were determined before the permanent rules took effect. In regard to the amendment to the governing statute, the law specifically stated that it was not retroactive. ²⁷

-

²² Or whether the action was taken by an unauthorized person. RCW 34.05.570(4)(c)

²³ State v. Turner, 98 Wash.2d 731 (1983) Quoting Grays Harbor Paper Co. v. Grays Harbor County, 74 Wash.2d 70, 73, 442 P.2d 967 (1968).

²⁴ City of Sequim v. Malkasian, 157 Wn.2d 251, 258-259, 138 P.3d 943, (2006)

²⁵ This is the same period in which other groups, not contemplated by the legislature, were made eligible to obtain state licenses.

²⁶ See *Supra* Pgs. 10-11 Fn. 14 and Fn. 15. The license application window was closed on March 31st, 2016. The Decision states, incorrectly, that emergency rules expired in January 2016. Opinion at 5. Emergency licensing rules expired on June 18th, 2016.

²⁷ Laws of 2017 ch. 317, Sec. 25. "This act applies prospectively only and not retroactively. It applies only to causes of action that arise (if change is substantive) or that are commenced (if change is procedural) on or after the effective date of this

2.b. Case not moot because remedy is available.

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with Supreme Court opinions on matters of justiciability. Two cases illustrate the authority of courts to tailor remedies within the context of the facts and the governing statutes. Namely, *Washington State Coalition for the Homeless v. DSHS*, 133 Wn.2d 894 (1997) and *Hillis v. State Department of Ecology* 131 Wn.2d 373 (1997)

Washington Coalition involved a class action alleging that DSHS had failed to comply with the requirement under RCW 74.13.031 to develop and implement a plan for providing services to homeless children. The trial court directed DSHS to comply with its statutory obligations. This Court affirmed.

A portion of the dissent in *Washington Coalition* felt that the statute in question did not create an implied right for plaintiffs to seek declaratory and injunctive relief under the uniform declaratory judgements act. More recently, this Court has affirmed that the APA is the exclusive means of judicial review for administrative violations.²⁸ However, declaratory judgment and the power to order an agency to carry out a

section." EFFECTIVE DATE: 7/23/2017

²⁸ Northwest Ecosystem Alliance v. Washington Forest Practices Bd., 149 Wn.2d 67, 66 P.3d 614 (2003)

statutory duty are recognized under the APA. Puget Sound Group sought declaratory judgment per RCW 34.05.570(2) and sought an order to comply with statutory instructions, per RCW 34.05.570(4)(b). Remedies under RCW 34.05.574 may issue under any .570 review. Where multiple material issues are presented, remedies are not exclusive of each other.

The Washington Coalition dissent also felt that directing DSHS to take specific action to remedy non-compliance with a legislative mandate was contrary to the holding in Hillis. What the dissent neglects however, is that the remedy in Hillis heavily encroached into the rights of others. Hillis does not stand for the proposition that directed action is unavailable.

In *Hillis*, this Court took issue with an order to process plaintiff's water rights application and the impact on other parties seeking the same. Some 5000 applications were currently in cue. While consideration was given as to whether it was arbitrary and capricious for Ecology to process applications in what appeared to be a random order and at an excruciatingly slow pace; it's clear that the nature of the specific relief being sought weighed heavily on this Court. The plaintiffs had their own water needs, but the rights of others in the process would be substantially impacted by that specific relief.

Hillis also involved creation of new permitting criteria outside of rulemaking. The result was invalidation of agency action and remand for rulemaking. On first blush, it appears that the remedy for failure to follow rulemaking procedures was mere rule-invalidation. However, this Court goes on to remand the case for rulemaking on the issue of legislative rules adopted without adherence to APA requirements. It's clear then, that invalidation was the judgment and remand was the broader remedy.

Puget Sound Group challenged the validity of the emergency rule on the basis that LCB failed to properly implement the governing statute (arbitrary and capricious as-applied) and on the basis that the rule was adopted without consideration or deliberation (arbitrary and capricious *per se*). The Court of Appeals believes that the only available remedy is "set-aside." The logic being that a court cannot set aside a rule that has since expired. However, a challenge to the validity of a rule is conducted through a petition for declaratory judgement (RCW 34.05.570(2)(a)) under the standard of review articulated in RCW 34.05.570(2)(c). Of the remedy options described in RCW 34.05.574(1), "set aside" and "declaratory judgement" are distinct. Having confused the remedies while ignoring the remainder of the prayers for relief, the Court of Appeals has impermissibly narrowed the ability for parties to obtain meaningful review.

The APA explicitly states that a court may remand a matter and issue an interlocutory order to preserve the rights of the parties. Puget Sound Group asks that declaratory judgments issue and order the agency to comply with its statutory commands. Petitioners bore the burden of the action to enforce their rights and an interlocutory order is available to provide relief specific to the Petitioners. An Interlocutory order is authorized by the APA and allows the Court to both tailor relief and avoid implicating parties that have already been processed by the LCB's rules. ²⁹

3. Mootness Exception: Question presented is of substantial or continuing public interest.

We have quite consistently held that the fact that an issue is moot does not divest this court of jurisdiction to decide it. We will retain an appeal and decide issues, even though moot, if they present matters of substantial public interest, particularly where final determination of the issue is essential in guiding the conduct of public officials.

DeFunis v. Odegaard, 84 Wn.2d 628, (1974)

Considerations - whether: (1) the issue presented is of a public or private nature, (2) it is desirable to provide guidance to public officers, and (3) the issue is likely to recur.

Appeals in other jurisdictions have been retained, even though moot, inasmuch as matters of 'public interest' were involved,

-

²⁹ Additionally, the LCB has made no compelling argument that relief limited to the Petitioners would have an adverse impact on third parties.

particularly when it was important that a particular statute be correctly construed or when the final determination of a particular question was essential in guiding the conduct of public officials. ³⁰

The distinction between public issues sufficient to trigger a mootness exception and those that are too modest in scale is a question of impact. Cases that involve a small subset of the population that do not concern bodies with statewide jurisdiction or do not involve substantial public dollars are considered lacking in public interest.

The instant issue, although of notable academic interest, does not meet this test. Petitioners admit that Lynden is the only city in Washington state to prohibit ballroom dancing where liquor by the drink is sold. Although the issue is undoubtedly of great interest to its residents, it is not of sufficient importance to the public at large to warrant our review under these circumstances.

Despite what appears to be a bright line between significant public interests and those of too private a nature, even *Harvest House* was a split decision.

The term "moot" is generally applied to cases where the determination does not rest on existing facts or rights, cases in which no judgment rendered could be carried into effect, or cases in which no actual controversy exists.³²

³⁰ National Elec. Contractors Ass'n v. Seattle School Dist. No. 1, 66 Wn.2d 14, 400 P.2d 778, (1965)

³¹ Harvest House Restaurant, Inc. v. City of Lynden, 102 Wn.2d 369, 685 P.2d 600, (1984)

³² Harvest House Restaurant, Inc. v. City of Lynden, 102 Wn.2d 369, 685 P.2d 600, (1984) (Williams, C.J., dissenting).

Puget Sound Group challenges the arbitrary interpretation of the CPPA and arbitrary method by which rules were promulgated. Petitioners also challenge the arbitrary and capricious approach taken by the LCB that amended an existing rule and rule adoption³³ without adherence to APA rulemaking procedures. The perfunctory approaches taken by the LCB show a pattern of unlawful action likely to reoccur.

A case might become moot if subsequent events make it absolutely clear that the allegedly wrongful behavior could not reasonably be expected to recur. *United States v. Concentrated Phosphate Export Assn.*, *Inc.*, 393 U.S. 199, 203.³⁴ The heavy burden of persuading the court that the challenged conduct cannot reasonably be expected to recur lies with the party asserting mootness. Ibid.

Friends of Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Environmental Services (TOC), Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 170 (2000)

The Court of Appeals was in error to narrow the consideration of misconduct to a misinterpreted statute. The Opinion only considered whether a ruling would clarify the agency's statutory authority with regard to license applications and failed to consider whether a ruling would prevent the kind of arbitrary and capricious procedures that Petitioners allege. ³⁵ *Of course* it's unlikely that the Legislature would re-task the LCB

vays. Co

³³ Retail license cap adoption on December 16th, 2015.

³⁴ "Mere voluntary cessation of allegedly illegal conduct does not moot a case; if it did, the courts would be compelled to leave "[t]he defendant . . . free to return to his old ways." Concentrated Phosphate at 203.

³⁵ Decision at 6.

to consolidate market systems.³⁶ That doesn't mean that the LCB did what the CPPA instructed or did so in the manner required by the APA.

While preventing procedural misconduct is significant in its own right, the seemingly private nature of the licenses sought turns out to have a significant public impact. Washington's excise tax on cannabis sales is 37 percent. ³⁷ The State received \$315 million dollars in tax revenue in 2017.³⁸ Divided evenly amongst each retailer³⁹, each store is responsible for generating \$826,000 per store, per year. If Petitioners were made eligible for only one license,40 they collectively stand to generate \$10,748,000 in taxes annually. 41 42

Decision in Conflict with Published Opinion of the Court of Appeals

The cause was held moot because of the expiration of the emergency rule.

"Because the challenged emergency rule has expired, we cannot

³⁷ RCW 69.50.535. Plus local sales tax.

³⁶ Especially since MUCA, former RCW 69.51A expired on July 1, 2016.

³⁸ Washington State Treasurer (Citing WSLCB 2017 Annual Report Pg. 16.) https://tre.wa.gov/portfolio-item/washington-state-marijuana-revenues-and-health/

³⁹ 381 retailers with reported revenue per 502data.com. https://502data.com/retailers

⁴⁰ Though, some Petitioners applied for more than one license.

⁴¹ On an unweighted basis. The top 100 retailers are responsible for \$500,601,000 in state tax revenue, to date. https://502data.com/retailers

⁴² The matter of public benefit further increases when one considers the impact of licensing Petitioners, given their substantial experience in medical cannabis.

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