FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/30/2018 8:21 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96390-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Puget Sound Group, LLC, et al.,

Petitioners,

 \mathbf{v}

Washington State Liquor & Cannabis Board, et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Penny Allen Senior Counsel WSBA 18821 1125 Washington St SE PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 586-1520

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

IV. REASONS FOR DENYING REVIEW

Puget Sound Group fails to establish a basis for review. Whether a challenge to an emergency rule is moot does not constitute an issue of substantial public importance and the Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with case law. The ruling below involves a straightforward application of settled legal principles and case law. Because the Petition fails to satisfy any of the four factors in RAP 13.4(b), review should be denied.

A. The Ruling that Petitioners' Challenge to the Expired Emergency Rule Is Moot Is Not a Question of Substantial or Continuing Public Interest

Puget Sound Group challenged the Board's emergency rule with two arguments. They claimed implementing the legislatively mandated Priority system was arbitrary and capricious because it failed to incorporate all requirements of former RCW 69.50.331, and they claimed the Board adopted the emergency rule without consideration or deliberation as to alternative interpretations of former RCW 69.50.331. Petition at 19.

The Court of Appeals determined that their challenge was moot because it could grant no meaningful relief. The emergency rule had expired and had been replaced by a permanent rule that the Puget Sound Group had not challenged. Opinion at 6. The Court of Appeals also determined that the issue did not present a sufficient continuing and substantial public interest to warrant review of a moot issue. *Id*.

Puget Sound Group asks this Court to review if the Court of Appeals correctly determined the appeal was moot. They claim the Court of Appeals ruling conflicts with *Washington State Coalition for the Homeless v. DSHS*, 133 Wn.2d 894, 949 P.2d 1291 (1997) and *Hillis v. State Dep't of Ecology*, 131 Wn.2d 373, 932 P.2d 139 (1997), an argument premised on a theory that the Court of Appeals could have granted relief by declaring the rules invalid and remanding the matter to the Board to comply with the law. Petition at 13-17. As shown below, this has no merit.

Puget Sound Group also argues that their challenge to the emergency rule presented an issue of substantial and continuing public interest such that the Court of Appeals should have decided the issue even though it was moot. Again, this is incorrect and, in any event, the Court of Appeals ruling on that point does not conflict with the holding in *Mauzy v. Gibbs*, 44. Wn. App. 625, 634-35, 723 P.2d 458 (1986), as claimed by Puget Sound Group.

1. Puget Sound Group's challenge to the expired emergency rule is moot because no relief is available

It is well-established that a court will not generally decide a case if the case is moot, and that a case is moot if a court can no longer provide effective relief to the parties. *Orwick v. City of Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d 249, 253, 692 P.2d 793 (1984) (citing *State v. Turner*, 98 Wn.2d 731, 733, 658 P.2d 658 (1983)). Puget Sound Group agrees. Petition at 13.

Puget Sound Group argues, however, that relief could still be granted because the Court could declare the emergency rule invalid and remand the matter to the Board to follow the law. Petition at 14-17. This though, begs the question of what the Board could do on remand, and how a remand alone could provide any relief to Puget Sound Group. If this matter was remanded, the Board would do nothing – there is no need to re-adopt an emergency rule when there is no emergency. RCW 34.05.350. There is already a permanent rule, which Puget Sound Group failed to challenge and is outside the scope of this appeal, which would not be affected and would remain in place. *Mauzy*, 44 Wn. App. at 634-35 (Holding that a regularly adopted permanent rule was not invalidated by an invalid promulgation of identical emergency rule).

Nor would Puget Sound Group's status change. Its applications for licenses would be reviewed under the permanent rule. There is no

suggestion how they would have any different result on those licenses under the permanent rules. Thus, the Court of Appeals properly held no relief could be afforded to Petitioners if this Court declared that the emergency rule was invalid and remanded the matter back to the Board.

Puget Sound Group also argues that the Court could and should order some interlocutory relief in the form of retail licenses while the Board re-adopts its emergency rule. Petition at 17. Puget Sound Group provides no legal analysis authorizing this Court to do this, nor is the Board aware of any basis for licensing Puget Sound Group outside the rules and statutes.

2. Puget Sound Group's challenge to the expired emergency rule does not present a substantial or continuing public interest

Puget Sound Group next argues that even if their case is moot, this Court should review the Court of Appeals' holding that it did not present a substantial and continuing public interest that warranted review. Petition at 17-20. They do not show that the case meets that standard, much less that the Court of Appeals ruling should be reviewed on that basis.

This case would not create new law. It is already well established that if an issue is moot, a court may still review the issue if it involves matters of continuing and substantial public interest. *Sorenson v. Bellingham*, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972). For example, issues that may otherwise escape review because of their short nature are not

insulated from judicial review. *Sudar v. Dep't of Fish & Wildlife*, 187 Wn. App. 22, 35, 347 P.3d 1090 (2015) (Emergency fishing season rules "are not necessarily insulated from judicial review on the basis that the justiciable controversy is mooted by expiration of the rule.").

Whether an issue involves continuing and substantial public interest depends on three factors: 1) whether the issue is of a public or private nature, 2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to officers, and 3) whether the issue is likely to reoccur. *Sorenson*, 80 Wn.2d at 558; *Hart v. DSHS*, 111 Wn.2d 445, 448, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988). Puget Sound Group's challenge to the expired emergency rule does not meet these criteria.

First, review would not clarify statutory meaning. Although the challenge involved interpretation of a statute, the Legislature has since removed the statutory language requiring a competitive, merit-based selection as well as the required Priority criteria. Courts have not typically used the public interest exception in cases, like here, that are limited to the facts of the case or which involve statutes or regulations that have been amended. *Hart*, 111 Wn.2d at 459.

Second, given these changes to RCW 69.50.331, the challenges based on former RCW 69.50.331 are unlikely to reoccur. RCW 69.50.331

now requires that the Board "conduct a comprehensive, fair and impartial evaluation of the applications timely received." RCW 69.50.331. If the Board were required to reopen an application window for marijuana retail licenses, the prior system, which was removed, would not be the basis to evaluate future applications. Thus, the statutory construction issues here are unique to the former statute and the expired emergency rule. A ruling on that point would not provide useful guidance to the Board.

Nor would further review regarding the alleged procedural defects be of assistance to officers. There is already a robust body of case law on rulemaking requirements. *See Mauzy*, 44 Wn. App. 625; *Hillis*, 131 Wn.2d 894; *Sudar*, 187 Wn. App. 22; *State v. MacKenzie*, 114 Wn. App. 687, 60 P.3d 607 (2002). This Court need not add to that case law.

Puget Sound Group, however, argues that the Court should go beyond adoption of the emergency rule and address their vague claims of governmental misconduct. Petition at 19-20. Puget Sound Group not only claims misconduct in adopting the emergency rules, it claims that these actions establish a pattern of unlawful action, likely to reoccur. This argument makes no sense because the premises are devoid of logic or substance. Puget Sound Group then also alleges that the Board has the heavy burden of persuading the Court that the challenged conduct cannot

be reasonably expected to reoccur, relying on *Friends of the Earth v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs.*, 528 U.S. 167, 174, 120 S. Ct. 693, 145 L. Ed. 610 (2000). Petition at 19-20. But *Friends of the Earth* is not applicable. That case involves the situation where a defendant voluntary ceases alleged unlawful behavior and thereby moots a case. Only then does a court impose an additional burden of persuading a court that challenged conduct cannot be reasonably expected to reoccur. *Friends of the Earth*, 528 U.S. at 174.

Finally, Puget Sound Group argues that their issue has significant public impact because additional tax revenues would be raised if each Petitioner received a license. Petition at 20. This speculative argument fails for the simple reason that if the emergency rule were reviewed and invalidated, there is no showing that any Petitioner would be licensed. And even if another location were licensed, that is hardly proof that taxes would be paid, given that there is a finite number of customers.

In short, Puget Sound Group has failed to establish that their moot challenge to the adoption of expired emergency rules merits review, or that the Court of Appeals ruling on that point warrants this Court's review.

3. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with Coalition, Hillis, or Mauzy

Puget Sound Group argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Washington State Coalition for the Homeless v. DSHS*, 133 Wn.2d 894 (1997) and *Hillis v. State Department of Ecology*,

131 Wn.2d 373 (1997). Neither case conflicts with the unpublished Court of Appeals decision.

In *Coalition*, an association of agencies and organizations that provided services to homeless families sought a declaratory judgment that DSHS had an enforceable duty under RCW 74.13.031(1) to develop a plan for providing benefits to homeless children. The Court found that the requirements of RCW 74.13.031(1) were clear and mandatory, and that DSHS had failed to comply with their statutory duty. *Coal.*, 133 Wn.2d at 894. Unlike the case here, DSHS could provide relief by developing plans to assist with housing needs on remand. But here, the Board cannot provide any relief to Puget Sound Group upon remand. The fact that the Court ordered a remand in another case with vastly different facts does not establish a conflict.

In *Hillis*, Larry and Varalene Hillis filed for a permit from the Department of Ecology to withdraw water for a residential development they had planned to build. *Hillis*, 131 Wn.2d at 377. Because Ecology was unable to process the Hillis' water permit in a timely manner, they sought a writ of mandamus. The trial court issued the writ ordering Ecology to immediately investigate all of Hillis' pending permit applications and approve or deny them. This Court determined that procedures and priorities set by Ecology were new requirements or qualifications for water rights that

should have been adopted through rulemaking. The Court noted that proper remedy was invalidation of Ecology's decision regarding the process and priorities. *Id.* at 400. This Court then remanded the matter to Ecology to engage in rule-making procedures prior to its continued use of its priorities to make decisions and comply with the Court's order. Again, *Hillis* is readily distinguishable from the decision here as no similar relief is available in this case.

Puget Sound Group also argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Mauzy*, 44 Wn. App. 625. Petition at 20-22. Puget Sound Group is mistaken. In *Mauzy*, the petitioners, unlike the Petitioners here, challenged both the emergency rule and the permanent rule. *Id.* at 626. *Mauzy*, like the Court of Appeals here, recognized that review of the emergency rules was moot as the rules had been superseded by the permanent rules. *Id.* at 629. But *Mauzy* reviewed the emergency rules under the substantial and continuing public interest exception to mootness finding the issue regarding the standard for adopting an emergency rules was one of first impression, and was an issue that was likely to reoccur. *Id.* at 629-30. However, even when the court held the emergency rule was invalid, it did not remand the matter to DSHS to readopt the emergency rule. *Id.* at 630, 632. *Mauzy* also declined to hold the permanent rule invalid simply because the emergency rule was invalid. *Id.* at 634.

In contrast, the Court of Appeals did not find that Puget Sound Group's challenge to the emergency rule presented an issue of continuing and substantial public interest. Instead, the court found that a ruling regarding the agency's statutory authority which had been subsequently changed would not provide guidance with regard to evaluating license applications and would be unlikely to reoccur. Opinion at 6. Nothing in the decision below conflicts with *Mauzy*.

B. The Board Did Not Act Arbitrarily and Capriciously in Determining the Increased Number of Retail Licenses and the Court of Appeals' Decision on This Issue Does Not Conflict with Other Case Law

Puget Sound Group also argues that the Board acted arbitrarily and capriciously in adopting the retail license cap and asserts that the Court of Appeals conclusion conflicts with this Court's decision in *Rios v*. *Departmentt of Labor & Indus*tries, 145 Wn.2d 483, 39 P.3d 961 (2002). Petition at 22. Both arguments lack merit.

In *Rios*, the Department of Labor and Industries decided not to engage in rulemaking, despite the fact that its team of technical experts had deemed that pesticide monitoring, the subject of the rulemaking petition, was both necessary and doable. *Rios*, 145 Wn.2d at 507-08. Thus, *Rios* concluded the Department of Labor and Industries acted arbitrarily and capriciously by failing to consider its own technical experts' opinions. *Id*.

In contrast, the Board here did not disregard initial concerns raised regarding the BOTEC analysis. Rather than disregarding those concerns, as in *Rios*, the Board staff raised and discussed their concerns with the initial BOTEC report. CP 38-39, 509-11, 676, 682. As a result of these discussions and the changes made in the final report, Board staff were ultimately satisfied with the report and were able to rely upon it, and with other information to help them determine the number of additional licenses which were necessary. CP 39. The Board's process in determining the cap on retail licenses was reasonable, and fully considered the relevant attending facts and circumstances. Its use of the BOTEC report was not arbitrary and capricious and is distinguishable from Rios.

V. **CONCLUSION**

The Petition for Review should be denied.